OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KEN COVINGTON and MITCH MOSLEY

VS.

APPELLANTS

NO. 2008-CA-00275-COA

CREMONIA GRIFFIN

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF KEMPER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

HON. WALTER T. ROGERS ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANTS MARTIN, ROGERS & MITTS, LLP POST OFFICE BOX 291 MERIDIAN, MS 39302-0291 (601) 693-1657 MS BAR NO.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ENFORCE OPTION CONTRACT.

OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KEN COVINGTON and MITCH MOSLEY

APPELLANTS

VS.

CREMONIA GRIFFIN

NO. 2008-CA-00275-COA

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF CASE

This action was commenced in the Chancery Court of Kemper County, Mississippi, by the filing of a Complaint to Enforce Option Contract and Related Relief by Appellants, Ken Covington and Mitch Mosley, hereinafter referred to as "Ken" and "Mitch", Plaintiffs, against Cremonia Griffin, Appellee, hereinafter referred to as "Cremonia", Defendant.

Cremonia failed to file her Answer to said Complaint, and on Motion for Default Judgment, Final Judgment was entered by the Chancery Court.

On Motion of Cremonia to set aside Final Judgment, the Court entered its Judgment setting aside the Final Judgment.

Cremonia filed her Answer, and the parties proceeded to trial. At the conclusion of trial, the Chancery Judge entered its Opinion and Final Judgment, setting aside the Option Contract.

OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KEN COVINGTON and MITCH MOSLEY

APPELLANTS

NO. 2008-CA-00275-COA

VS.

CREMONIA GRIFFIN

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appeliants herein, Ken Covington and Mitch Mosley, were the Plaintiffs in the lower court and are referred to herein as "Plaintiffs" or "Ken and Mitch."

The Appellee herein, Cremonia Griffin, was the Defendant in the lower court and referred to herein as "Cremonia" or "Defendant."

Cremonia Griffin owned 160 acres, and an undivided interest in an additional 40 acres of land located in Kemper County, Mississippi. (R.90, 97) This property was previously owned by A.D. Griffin and his Wife, Laura Griffin, her parents. (R.89) A.D. Griffin predeceased his wife and Laura Griffin deeded the land to Cremonia. (R.89-90, 259)

Ken Covington and his family owned property adjoining the Griffin property to the East. (R.88) Ken lived most of his life on this farm, where they raise fish. Ken and his father had hunted the Griffin Property, and helped the Griffin family at times when vehicles got stuck or graded roads loggers had rutted up. (R.88-89, 107) Although Ken knew A.D. Griffin and his Wife, Laura Griffin, for some years, he wasn't sure he had ever met Cremonia until their dealings with the land. (R.110-111)

Sometime in the year 2006, Bennie Mayberry called Ken, expressing an interest in selling the Griffin property, saying he was authorized by the Griffin family to do so. (R.91) Bennie Mayberry, Precious Mayberry, and another person named Larry, was staying in the old house located on the Griffin Property. (R.94) Willie Griffin, a brother to Cremonia Griffin, who was in prison, had asked permission from Cremonia for the Mayberrys to stay there, and Cremonia had given them the keys to the house. (R.180, 272) Cremonia was living in an apartment in Meridian. (R.95, 182)

Hearing that the land was for sale, Ken contacted Mitch Mosley. (R.92) Mitch had bought the property to the West of the Griffin property in the mid-90's. (R.92, 194) Mitch had the Chevrolet dealership in DeKalb, Mississippi, and had sold two (2) cars to Cremonia previously. (R.190) The first time Mitch had met Cremonia was in the mid-1990's. (R.194)

Ken and Mitch agreed to attempt to purchase the property. Ken and Mitch rode over the property, and, in doing so, saw two (2) timber companies looking also at the property. They met Bennie Mayberry at the old Griffin house, who offered to sale the property for \$1,250.00 per acre. (R.93,180-181)

Ken and Mitch had an Option prepared to pay \$1,000.00 per acre for the Griffin property, with \$1,000.00 earnest money, and set up a time to have the Option signed. After the parties did not appear, Ken and Mitch began to question the Mayberrys' authority to sell the property. (R.94, 182; RE.11-13)

The first of the next week, Ken traveled to Meridian to talk with Cremonia at her apartment. Ken wasn't sure he had ever met Cremonia before this meeting, and this was the first time he had ever had a conversation with Cremonia. (R.95, 111) Ken told Cremonia the

Mayberrys were trying to sell the property, and tried to determine whether the Mayberrys were representing the family. Ken told her how much he and Mitch would pay for the property, and asked her for the telephone numbers for Cremonia's brothers to contact them. (R.95)

Ken then went to the courthouse, looked at the land records, and believed Cremonia owned the land outright. (R.96) Ken visited Cremonia with his father, Jerry Covington. Ken told Cremonia what he had discovered at the courthouse, that she was the true owner, that she could sell the property, and do what she wanted to with it. Ken told Cremonia he was interested in purchasing the land, and warned her to be careful of signing any papers from the Mayberrys. Ken told Cremonia he did not trust the people staying in the house. (R.96-97) Ken was still not sure that Cremonia knew she owned the property. He wanted to be up front with her and the family, and did not want her to be tricked. (R.116) Ken advised her to counsel with her family, but also felt that Cremonia was sharp, and was already cautious of these people. (R.117)

Ken next had the title checked by a lawyer to confirm his belief that Cremonia did own the property. He then visited Cremonia with Mitch to confirm her ownership, telling her that they would be interested in purchasing the property if she sold it. Ken, again, counseled her to seek advice from other members of her family. Ken and Mitch were still somewhat unsure about what was going on because the Mayberrys living in the house were still acting as if they were going to sell the property. Cremonia told Ken and Mitch that she wasn't interested in selling the property right now, but would call them if she changed her mind. (R.97-98, 182)

A couple of days later, Cremonia called Mitch at the Chevrolet dealership to come to Meridian to her apartment. (R.183, 245) Cremonia had first tried to contact Ken, but he was out of town on business. (R.139, 245) Feeling uncomfortable about going to Cremonia's apartment alone, Mitch called his wife to ride with him. (R.151) He put the prepared Option over his sunvisor. (R.183) (RE.11-13) When Cremonia answered the door, she gave him a list of the brothers' names, telephone numbers, and addresses, and had her bags packed. Cremonia asked Mitch to carry her to her cousin's house, Arthur Darden, and store her car until she called for it because she was going out of town. (R.184-185, 261)

Mitch drove Cremonia in her vehicle and his wife left in his vehicle. (R.184)

While in Cremonia's vehicle, Cremonia told Mitch that she was ready to sell, and that \$1,000.00 per acre was a fair price. Mitch then called his wife to bring the Option and meet them at Trustmark National Bank in Broadmoor Mart, Meridian, Mississippi, so the Option could be signed before a notary public. (R.245) Mitch's wife brought the Option to Trustmark Bank, and they went into the bank to sign the Option before a notary public. The Option was available for Cremonia to read over and look at it. It was three (3) pages stapled together. (R.153, 185-186) (RE.11-13)

Cremonia signed the Option before Robin Shelton, a notary public. (R.160) Mitch explained to Cremonia that the Option was for \$1,000.00 per acre, and he paid her \$1,000.00 earnest money with a check with the words "earnest money" on it. (R.188) All blanks in the Option were completed at the time of the signing at Trustmark Bank, and no changes were made to the Option. Cremonia was not confused about the Option, and had an opportunity to read it. (R.185-186, 187)

Robin Shelton, the notary public, was the financial service representative employed at Trustmark Bank, and notarized the signature of Cremonia Griffin and Mitch Mosley. (R.160) The document was completed at the time Cremonia and Mitch signed, and she saw them sign the Option. Nothing out of the ordinary with the notarization of their signatures occurred. (R.160-161,165) Mitch did not notice any disability that prevented Cremonia from understanding what she was signing. (R.190)

After the Option was signed, Mitch took Cremonia to her cousin's house, Arthur Darden, unloaded her bags and things, and took her car to the Chevrolet dealership to store it. (R.188-189)(R.249) Mitch then recorded the Option at the courthouse. (R.186)(RE.11-13)

The next morning Cremonia called Mitch and asked if she could have her car back. Mitch called Ken, and Ken followed Mitch to the Darden's house to return the car. (R.189) It was at this time that Cremonia said she wanted to give Mitch back the earnest money check. He told her that the Option was recorded, and did not feel comfortable about taking the check back. Cremonia told him that she was going to sell the property, but not right now. (R.189) The earnest money check has never been returned to Mitch. (R.188)

After the Option was signed, Cremonia went to her brother's house in California, Arthur Griffin, with an address of 4982 Vail Lane, San Bernardino, California, and, also, stayed at her sister's house, Mary Brown, 1430 Lexington Avenue, El Cahon, California. (R.100, 138, 253, 276)

(R.100) Cremonia gave Ken permission to call her brothers and sister. Ken called and

talked to the three (3) brothers he had telephone numbers for, and her sister. Ken told them he and Mitch had purchased an Option on the property, and intended to exercise the Option. Ken wanted them to know what was going on, and that he was trying to do the right thing. During these conversations, Cremonia never told Ken she did not want to sell the land. (R.101) Ken asked Cremonia when she was coming back to conclude the sale, since she had entered into the Contract and was responsible to fulfill it. (R.101, 145, 146)

After the Option had been signed, Ken asked two (2) different people to look at the property to determine its value. Ricky Goforth, a Forest Consultant with Goforth Forest Management, with thirty-one (31) years of experience as a registered forester and real estate broker, viewed the property with Ken. (R.124,168)

The property was farmed in the years past and it had grown up in grass and scrub timber. The timber had been cut through over the years with more hardwood being left than pine, and which was of a rough grade. (R.168) Goforth put a value of \$700.00 per acre on the land, with a value of \$200.00 to \$400.00 per acre for timber. (R.171,172) If the land was purchased, then the new owner would have to remove everything on the land and start over, with an additional cost of approximately \$300.00 per acre. (R.172)

Cremonia Griffin was sixty-seven (67) years of age, having been born December 1st, 1939. She knew how to read and write. (R.263) She had gone to the 12th grade. (R.236) After school, she had worked in electronics and with children. In her early years, she had moved to California, and had lived there for 16 to 17 years. (R.236, 237) She had traveled back and forth from California more than six (6) times. (R.269) A long time ago, she had undergone mental health treatment, and had spent 2 to 3 weeks in a facility. (R.239) In 2005, she had gone to Weems, experiencing mental problems of confusion. (R.240) In 2006, she

had gone to Alliance in Meridian. She was placed on medication. (R.239, 241) When her mother had gotten sick, she had returned from California to help her mother. (R.273)

Cremonia's explanation of what transpired at Trustmark Bank was that Mitch had asked her to sign a check for the money that he was giving her (earnest money). She believed she only signed one (1) paper, and that she and Mitch never talked about what was in the document. (R.245, 247)

Cremonia testified she was renting her apartment in Meridian; (R.255) that she had rented property before; that she has read over the leases; and that with the leasing of her apartment, she had to put up a security deposit; and that she understood the terms of the leases. (R.256)

Cremonia stated that she had a checking account and she would write checks on her checking account, and she understood what she was doing when she did that. (R.256-257) Cremonia stated she knew she had deeded the property to Robert (her brother). She understood the title to the land was in Robert's name. (R.261) She had asked Mitch to drive her to the Darden house because she was not supposed to be driving. (R.262) She admitted it was her signature on the Option Agreement, and she signed her name. (R.263) She admitted she did not read the document, and she could have read the document if she had wanted to. She, also, stated there was nothing preventing her from reading the document. (R.266)

Cremonia had traveled back and forth to California more than six (6) times by bus, car or by air. She had ridden in a car with someone else in traveling to California, and she has taken the airplane and bus by herself. She could do it by herself, but her family helped her. At times the air flight would require her to change planes between California and Jackson, and

she had flown from California to St. Louis one time. (R.269-271) She had asked the people staying in the house to leave (the Mayberrys), and had taken care of that by herself. (R.273) When her mother was sick, she took care of her, and handled her affairs. Generally, she would get someone to help her to go to different places with her mother. (R.273)She stated she was capable of handling her own business at times. Cremonia stated that sometimes she was depressed and gets confused. (R.274)

Cremonia stated she had never received a check for \$1,000.00 (earnest money) as a gift. (R.275)

Cremonia had been out of Alliance a week or two before she called Mitch to come to her house. (R.285) Cremonia knew she owned 160 acres of land. Cremonia said the land was not for sale until all of her family agreed to the sell, and that is why she gave the addresses to Ken and Mitch. (R.289) She was at Alliance because she was disturbed. (R.240)

At times, Cremonia had sold timber off the property because of worms, and the timber had died. She had asked Michael Clark to cut the timber within the last 6 to 8 months. (R.292-293)

Ken and Mitch decided to exercise the Option and, in accordance with their decision, a letter was sent to Cremonia Griffin on April 6th, 2006. (RE.14-15) The closing for the purchase of the property was set for 1:00 o'clock P.M. on May 1st, 2006. Cremonia did not attend the closing that was set, and the *Complaint to Enforce Option Contract and Related Relief* was filed on May 9th, 2006 in the Chancery Court of Kemper County, Mississippi. (RE.7-15)

The Complaint listed Cremonia's address of 4982 Vail Lane, San Bernardino, California 92407-2984, and 1430 Lexington Avenue, El Cahon, California 92019, and process was obtained by publication. (RE.7-10) However, the Chancery Clerk failed to send by first class mail, postage prepaid, to her address a copy of the Summons and Complaint when the action was initially filed. (RE.3-6)

Cremonia filed no answer or other responsive pleadings, and on July 6th, 2006, Ken and Mitch filed their Application for Entry of Default with supporting Affidavit, Motion for Default Judgment, and Clerk's Default. (RE.3-6)

However, because the Chancery Clerk had failed to mail a copy of the Summons and Complaint to Cremonia, no Judgment was presented to the court. On July 17th, 2006, the Chancery Clerk sent by certified mail the Summons and Complaint to both addresses listed in the Complaint to Enforce. (RE.3-6) On August 26th, 2006, Ken and Mitch, again, filed their Application for Entry of Default with supporting Affidavit, Motion for a Default Judgment, and Clerk's Default, and the Chancery Court entered its Final Judgment on September 19th, 2006. (RE.3-6)

On October 18th, 2006, Cremonia filed her Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, and Ken and Mitch filed their Motion to Enforce Judgment on November 1st, 2006. (RE.3-6)

On November 16th, 2006, the Court heard Cremonia's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, and, also, Motion to Enforce Judgment filed by Ken and Mitch. On November 20th, 2006, the Court entered its Judgment setting aside the Judgment, stating its reasoning as follows:

"Although Rule 4C does not set forth a specific time in which the mailing of the Complaint and the Summons is required, this Court feels that the Complaint and Summons should be mailed simultaneously with the issuance of the

Summons by Publication. Clearly, to have a copy of the Summons and Complaint mailed to the Defendant approximately sixty days after the date of the first publication and the Entry of Default Judgment does not comply with the provisions of Rule 4C." (RE.26)

At the hearing of the Motion to Set Aside the Judgment, Cremonia testified she left Mississippi, and had lived in California with her brother, Arthur Griffin, in San Bernardino, with her niece in Linwood, California, and with her sister, Mary Brown, in El Cahon, California. (R.23, 29-30) She stated she never received a summons or a complaint or anything from Mitch, Ken or their attorney. (R.24) Cremonia stated that her brother, Robert, who lives in St. Louis, called her in August of 2006 to come down to Mississippi because Ken and Mitch were suing her. She came two weeks in August when her mother passed away. Cremonia flew to St. Louis and drove down to Kemper County with her brother, Robert, in September, 2006. (R.24, 26) It was her understanding she and her brother were coming to Mississippi to appear in court. (R.26)

Cremonia stayed in Meridian for two weeks with her purpose was to find out about the court action. Robert told her that he would take care of the court action, and had Cremonia sign a deed to the property to him, prepared by a lawyer in Meridian. (R.27, 32-39) The deed was then recorded in the Chancery Clerk's Office in Kemper County, on September 19th, 2006 at 10:37 o'clock A.M. (RE.22-23) The Final Judgment dated September 19th, 2006, and based on her default, was filed on September 19th, 2006 at 10:29 o'clock A.M. (RE.21)

This action was tried before the Chancery Court of Kemper County on August 28th, 2007.

On November 26th, 2007, the Court issued its Opinion (RE.30-36), and Final Judgment was entered on January 10th, 2008 (RE.37), setting aside the Option Contract.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court abused its discretion in arbitrarily setting aside the Judgment dated September 19th, 2006, granting unto Appellants, Ken and Mitch, a Default Judgment based on a failure of the Chancery Clerk in mailing a copy of the Summons and Complaint to Cremonia until fifty (50) days has passed from the date of the first publication of the Summons by Publication. The <u>Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure</u>, Rule 4C, does not set forth a stated time within which the Clerk is to mail a copy of the Summons and Complaint to the Defendant, based on a Summons by Publication, and to rule that said mailing of Summons and Complaint to the Defendant must be mailed simultaneously with the issuance of the Summons by Publication is an abuse of the Chancellor's discretion.

No prejudice was shown to have occurred to the Defendant as the results of the Chancery Clerk mailing a copy of the Summons and Complaint to the Defendant fifty (50) days after the first date of publication of the Summons. In fact, Cremonia, the Defendant, was well aware of the pending litigation, and attempted to avoid its consequences by deeding the property in question to her brother, Robert. The deed to Robert was filed in the Chancery Clerk's Office on September 19, 2006, at 10:37 o'clock A.M., and which was the same day and time the Chancellor was considering the Motion for Default, and signing the Final Judgment based thereon.

Further, the trial court erred in setting aside the Option Contract, and considering procedural unconscionability as a ground therefor, when said defense was not pled as an affirmative defense by Cremonia, the Defendant.

Although the lower court found the consideration for the purchase of the land was adequate, the Option Contract was valid, and no fraud was shown, it set the Option Contract aside. The Court found there existed a fiduciary relationship between the parties, that Cremonia was of unsound mind, and the enforcement of the Option Contract would be unconscionable.

The record in the lower court does not support a find of a fiduciary relationship between the parties or that Cremonia was of such unsound mind she could not enter into a legally binding agreement. Further, Cremonia is receiving the fair market value for the sale of the land, and to enforce the Option Contract would not be unconscionable in these circumstances.

The lower court's judgment should be reversed and rendered in favor of Ken and Mitch.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE THE FINAL JUDGMENT.

Ken and Mitch filed their *Complaint to Enforce Option Contract* on May 9th, 2006. The Complaint contained the Defendant's last known address of 4982 Vail Lane, San Bernadino, California 92407-2984, and 1430 Lexington Avenue, El Cahon, California 92019. (RE.7-10)

Process by publication for Cremonia was published in the Kemper County Messenger on May 18th, 2006, May 25th, 2006, and June 1st, 2006. (RE.3-6)

The Chancery Clerk failed to send, by first class, postage prepaid, a copy of the Summons and Complaint to the addresses listed in the Complaint as required by MRCP(4), until July 7th, 2006. At this time, the Chancery Clerk mailed a copy of the Summons and Complaint to Cremonia addressed to the last known address as stated in the Complaint. (RE.3-6, 7-10)

No answer or other responsive pleadings were filed by Cremonia.

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