IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO.2008-CA-00275-COA

KEN COVINGTON and MITCH MOSLEY

APPELLANTS

V.

CREMONIA GRIFFIN

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, CREMONIA GRIFFIN

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Kemper County, Mississippi

Submitted by:

John E. Wade, Jr.

John C. Hall, II,

Shunda L. Pounders,

Brunini, Grantham, Grower & Hewes, PLLC

190 E. Capitol Street

P.O. Box Drawer 119

Jackson, Mississippi 39205

Telephone: (601) 948-3101

Facsimile: (601) 960-6902

Respectfully submitted, CREMONIA ØRIFFIN.

By:

One of Her Attorneys

ORAL ARGUMENTS NOT REQUESTED

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

The Appellants filed a Complaint to Enforce Option Contract and subsequently entered default judgment against Ms. Griffin because she did not answer as a result of not properly being served with the complaint. The lower court set the default aside because the Appellants failed to comply with *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 4(c)(4)(A), which is well established under Mississippi law must be strictly observed. *McDuff v. McDuff*, 173 So.2d 419 (Miss. 1965). Under *Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure* 60(b)(4), a default judgment may be set aside when it is void. It is well settled under Mississippi law that a default judgment rendered without valid service or jurisdiction is void. *McCain v. Dauzat*, 791 So.2d 839 (Miss. 2001).

A trial on the merits was conducted and the learned Chancellor below set the Option contract aside because 1) there was a unilateral mistake and misapprehension on the part of Ms. Griffin with respect to signing the contract; 2) there existed a confidential relationship between the parties; 3) Griffin was of unsound mind; and 4) the enforcement of the Option Contract would be unconscionable. The record below fully supports the Chancellor's findings and thus, the lower court's setting aside of the Final Judgment and the setting aside of the Option Contract should be affirmed.

00685659 -3-

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellants, Ken Covington ("Covington") and Mitch Mosley ("Mosley") (collectively referred to as "Plaintiffs" or "Appell ants") appealed the Opinion of the Honorable Max Kilpatrick ("Chancery Judge Kilpatrick"), dated November 26, 2007 ("Chancery Judge Kilpatrick's Opinion") (R. At 79). In this case, Appellants allege they are entitled to specific performance of an Option Contract ("Contract") for the sale of land owned by Appellee, Cremonia Griffin ("Ms. Griffin" or "Appellant.") located in Kemper County, Mississippi. (Id.) On several occasions, Appellants attempted to purchase Ms. Griffin's property which was owned by her family since the 1930s. (Id.) On each occasion, Ms. Griffin told Appellants that she was not interested in selling her land. (Id.) On February 23, 2006, Appellants exercised undue influence over Ms. Griffin, an elderly woman who has a history of mental illness and got her to sign and notarize an option contract granting Appellants the right to purchase Ms. Griffin's land. (R. at 84). Ms. Griffin was released from a mental health facility shortly before purportedly signing the agreement in question. (R. At 82). The Chancellor set the Option Contract aside after conducting a full hearing on the merits. (R. At 79-86). Appellants appeal the lower court's findings of fact and application of law.

A. Facts Giving Rise to This Action

In this case, Appellants allege they are entitled to specific performance of an Option Contract for the sale of land owned by Ms. Griffin located in Kemper County, Mississippi. (R. at 79). At some point in February 2006, the Appellants began negotiating the sale of Ms. Griffin's property with Bennie Mayberry ("Mayberry"), a friend of Ms. Griffin's brother, who was staying in the house located on the land in question. (Tr. At 93, lines 27-29;94, lines 1-29).

-4-

The Appellants determined that Mayberry did not have authority to sell the land when Ms. Griffin did not attend the closing at the Appellants' attorney's office which they scheduled with Mayberry. (Tr. At 94, lines 12-29). Ken Covington, along with his father, Jerry then met with Ms. Griffin, their long time neighbor, and advised her that Mayberry had been negotiating on her behalf to sell her land. (Tr, At 96, lines 9-21). Ms, Griffin advised the Covingtons that her land was not for sale like she had done on several other occasions, when approached by the Appellants. (R. At 79; Tr. At 96, lines 24-28; 97, lines 21-23; 120, lines 15-29; 121, lines 1-25). On or about February 23, 2006, Ms. Griffin called Mosley to drive her to her relatives' home in Meridian as she was going out of town for a little while. (Tr. At 244, lines 28-29; 245, lines 1-10). Even though Ms. Griffin made no mention of wanting to sell her property to Mosley during that telephone conversation, he went to her apartment with the intention of getting her to sign the agreement. (Tr. At 207, lines 20-29; 208, line 1). During that car ride, she never told Mosley that she wanted to sell her property to him. (Tr. At 245, line26-29; 246, lines 1-7). Mosley suggested to Ms. Griffin that perhaps she needed money for her trip. (Tr. At 245, lines 16-17). He then called his wife and told her to meet him and Ms. Griffin at the Trustmark Bank with the option contract. (Tr. At 245, line 19). Mosley went into the bank first, and then came to get Ms. Griffin to come into the bank. (Tr. At 245, lines 20-21). Once in the bank, a woman who worked at Trustmark handed Ms. Griffin a one page document to sign, which she thought was a receipt for the check Mosley gave her. (Tr. At 247, lines 1-11). Mosley did not give Ms. Griffin an opportunity to review the document, to discuss its terms, or to consult with a lawyer or her family about the document prior to her signing. (Tr. At 247, lines 16-29; 248, lines 1-16). Ms. Griffin did not understand the check was given to her as earnest money, nor did she know what earnest

00685659 -5-

money was. (Tr. At 248, lines 24-29). Once she got to her cousin's home later that day, she discussed with them the fact that Mosley just gave her a check, for reasons unknown to her. (Tr. At 249, lines 22-29). Her cousins told her to give the check back, and they called Mosley that same day to return the check but he refused to take it. (Tr. At 250, lines 3-4). The next day, Ms. Griffin attempted to return the check to Mosley and Covington in person and they refused to accept it again. (Tr. At 250, lines 9-11). At that meeting, he advised Ms. Griffin that the check was a gift for her, and neglected to tell her that it was earnest money or in any way connected with a contract to purchase her property. (Tr. At 250, lines 11-18). Ms. Griffin has never attempted to cash the check. (Tr. At 250, lines 20-21; 254, lines 27-29). As further evidence that this 'whole transaction was made on the fly and in an attempt to quickly get Ms. Griffin to sign the agreement, Covington had not secured financing for his half of the deal at the time the option was signed by Ms. Griffin. (Tr. At 142, lines 1-29; 143, lines 1-16).

Covington spoke to Griffin when she was in California a few weeks after the transaction. (Tr. at 64, line 22). Ms. Griffin advised again that she did not want to sell her property. (Tr. at 64, lines 20-22). While speaking to Ms. Griffin's family members by telephone, Covington did not tell them that Ms. Griffin executed an agreement to sell her property to him and Mosley. (Id. At lines 23-24). During another call to Ms. Griffin while she was in California, Covington advised her brother, Arthur, that he had an option to buy the Griffin land. (Tr. At 65, lines 1-3). However, Covington did not advise that suit was going to be filed to enforce the option contract. (R. At 65, lines 8-9).

00685659 -6-

On April 6, 2006, Appellants mailed their notice to exercise their option to purchase the property via certified mail, return receipt requested. (R. at 9-10). Ms. Griffin never received a copy of the notice to exercise option and never attended the closing for the sale of her property. (Tr. At 253, line19-22). Plaintiffs subsequently filed suit to enforce their Option.

B. Procedural History

The Appellants filed their Complaint to Enforce Option Contract and Related Relief on May 11, 2006. (R. At 1). The Application for Entry of Default Judgment and Supporting Affidavit was filed on July 5, 2006. (R. At. 11). There is no indication in the record where Appellants attempted to serve Ms. Griffin with notice of the filing of their Application of Default Judgment and Supporting Affidavit, or the Motion for Default Judgment. (R. 11-15). The Motion for Default Judgment, Affidavit for Default, and entry of Default were filed on July 6, 2006. (R. At. 11-15). The Application for Entry of Default Judgment and Supporting Affidavit were filed on August 22, 2006. (R. At. 16-18). The Motion for Default Judgment and Default Judgment were filed on August 22, 2006. (R. At. 19-20). Appellants did not give Ms. Griffin any notice of the filing of the Application for Entry of Default Judgment and Supporting Affidavit, the Motion for Default Judgment, or the Default. (R. At 16-20). Yet, on September 19, 2006, Appellants sent Ms. Griffin a copy of the Final Judgment via certified mail, return receipt requested to three different addresses in three different states². (R. at 21). After learning of the

00685659 -7-

¹Appellants sent their correspondence to an address in El Cahon, California, and another address in San Bernadino, California.

²Appellants sent Ms. Griffin the Final Judgment to addresses in Daleville, Mississippi; St. Louis, Missouri; and San Bernadino, California.

lawsuit instituted against her for the first time in late September 2006, and the subsequent Final Judgment taken against her, Defendant Cremonia Griffin's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Stay of Judgment and Motion to Extend Time for Filing Notice of Appeal was filed on October 18, 2006. (R. At. 26-39). An Order Extending Time for Filing a Notice of Appeal was entered by the Chancellor below on October 23, 2006. (R. At. 40). Appellants' Motion to Enforce Final Judgment was filed on November 1, 2006. (R. At. 41-43). Ms. Griffins' Response in Opposition of Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Final Judgment was filed on November 15, 2006. (R. At. 48-58). A Hearing on Cremonia Griffin's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, Stay of Judgment and Motion to Extend time for Filing Notice of Appeal was held before the Honorable Max Kilpatrick on November 16, 2006. On November 20, 2006, the Chancellor vacated the Default Judgment because Plaintiffs failed to comply with the strict requirements of process by publication. (R. At 64-66). Ms. Griffin filed her answer and a trial on the merits was held on August 28, 2007 at the Kemper County Courthouse. After hearing testimony from several witnesses, the Chancellor set the option contract aside as to do otherwise would be unconscionable. (R. At 79-85). Final Judgment in favor of Ms. Griffin was entered on January 14, 2008. (R. At 86).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Standard of Review for Chancellor's Decision to Set Aside Default.

Appellate Courts review motions to set aside default judgments under an abuse of discretion standard. Tatum v. Barrentine, 797 So.2d 223, 227(¶ 15) (Miss.2001). Mississippi Supreme Court has held on numerous occasions that "Idlefau lt judgments are not favored and relief should only be granted when proper grounds are shown. The determination whether to vacate such a judgment is addressed to the discretion of the trial court. While the trial court has considerable discretion, this discretion is neither 'unfettered' nor is it 'boundless.'" Chassaniol v. Bank of Kilmichael, 626 So.2d 127, 135 (Miss. 1993). The trial court applies a three-prong balancing test in reviewing a motion to set aside a default judgment, pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Stanford v. Parker, 822 So.2d 886, 888(¶ 6) (Miss.2002). "When faced with a Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b) motion, the trial court must consider: '(1) the nature and legitimacy of the defendant's reasons for his default (2) whether the defendant in fact has a colorable defense to the merits of the claim, and (3) the nature and extent of prejudice which may be suffered by the plaintiff if the default is set aside." Am. Cable Corp. v. Trilogy Communications, Inc., 754 So.2d 545, 552 (Miss.Ct.App.2000). The test "boils down almost to a balancing of the equities-in whose favor do they preponderate, the plaintiff or the defendant?" McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So.2d 839, 842 ¶ 10 (Miss. 2001). Furthermore, "[w]here there is a reasonable doubt as to whether or not a default judgment should be vacated, the doubt should be resolved in favor of opening the judgment and hearing the case on its merits."

00685659 -9-

Id.

2. Standard of Review for Chancellor's Findings of Fact.

It is well settled that appellate courts "always review a chancellor's findings of fact, but ... will not disturb the factual findings of a chancellor when supported by substantial evidence unless [the court] can say with reasonable certainty that the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or applied an erroneous legal standard." Biglane v. Under the Hill Corp., 949 So.2d 9, 13-14 (Miss. 2007) (quoting Cummings v. Benderman, 681 So.2d 97, 100 (Miss. 1996)). Appellate Courts in Mississippi are reluctant to disturb the factual findings of a chancellor because of "[t]he credibility of the witnesses and the weight of their testimony, as well as the interpretation of evidence where it is capable of more than one reasonable interpretation, are primarily for the chancellor as the trier of facts." Rodriguez v. Rodriguez, ---So.2d ----, 2009 WL 117588, 2 ¶ 6 (Miss. App. 2009) "The chancellor's factual findings are 'insulated from disturbance on appellate review' if they are 'supported by substantial credible evidence." Id. "As the sole trier of fact, the chancellor determines the credibility of the witnesses and what weight to give to the evidence." Heidkamper v. Odom, 880 So.2d 362, 365(¶ 10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Moreover, the Appellate Court does not substitute its judgment for that of the lower court, even if it disagrees with the chancellor's findings of fact or might have come to a different conclusion. Owen v. Owen, 798 So.2d 394, 397-98(¶ 10) (Miss.2001).

B. THE CHANCERY COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY SETTING ASIDE FINAL JUDGMENT

In the instant case, Final Judgment was entered by default against Griffin. (R. At 25). The lower court conducted a hearing on Appellee's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, on November 16, 2006. (R. At 64). The Chancellor below properly set aside Final Judgment

00685659 -10-

because the Appellants failed to comply with the procedures set forth by the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, which voided the default judgment. (Id.)

1. Default Judgments Are Not Favored by Mississippi, and Fairness and Equity Dictated the Default Judgment To Be Set Aside by the Lower Court.

To begin, it is well settled that default judgments are "never favored" under Mississippi law. Chassaniol v. Bank of Kilmichael, 626 So. 2d 127, 135 (Miss. 1993). Instead, courts "universally favor" a trial on the merits. Id. at 135. Relief from a default judgment may be granted upon a sufficient showing of fraud, mistake, or other justifiable reason. Rich v. Nevels, 578 So.2d 609 (Miss. 1991); see also Miss. R. Civ. P. 60(b). In deciding the propriety of granting relief from a default judgment, the Court must consider: (a) the nature and legitimacy of the defendants reasons for default; (b) whether the defendant has a colorable defense on the merits of a claim; and (c) whether the plaintiff will suffer prejudice if the judgment is set aside. See Capital One Services, Inc. v. C.J. Rawls, 904 So.2d 1010, 1015 (Miss. 2004); see also McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So.2d 839, 843 (Miss. 2001). If there is any reasonable doubt as to whether a default judgment should be set aside, the doubt falls in favor of allowing the case to go forward for a decision on the merits. Capital One Services, Inc., 904 So.2d at 1015 citing McCain, 791 So. 2d at 843. In this case, fairness and equity dictated that the default judgment be set aside by the lower court. See McCain v. Dauzat, 791 So.2d 839 (the factors that a court must consider in determining whether to set aside a default judgment "bo ils down almost to a balancing of the equities").

2. Appellants' Complaint Did Not Strictly Comply with the Provisions of Miss.

R. Civ. P. 4 (c)(4)(A) Which Voided the Default Judgment

00685659 -11-

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